UC Santa Barbara

UC Santa Barbara Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Title

Vegetation characteristics and small mammal traits mediate community response to fire severity

Permalink https://escholarship.org/uc/item/58k5b127

Author Culhane, Kathryn (Kate)

Publication Date 2022

Peer reviewed|Thesis/dissertation

UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA

Santa Barbara

Vegetation characteristics and small mammal traits mediate community response to fire

severity

A thesis submitted in partial satisfaction of the

requirements for the degree Master of Arts in Ecology, Evolution and Marine Biology

by

Kathryn E. Culhane

Committee in charge:

Professor Hillary Young, Chair

Professor Scott Cooper

Professor Max Moritz

June 2022

The thesis of Kathryn E. Culhane is approved.

Scott Cooper

Max Moritz

Hillary Young, Committee Chair

June 2022

Vegetation characteristics and small mammal traits mediate community response to fire

severity

Copyright © 2022

by

Kathryn E. Culhane

ABSTRACT

Vegetation characteristics and small mammal traits mediate community response to fire severity

by

Kathryn E. Culhane

The frequency of high-severity "mega-fires" has increased in recent decades, with numerous consequences for forest ecosystems. In particular, small mammal communities are not only vulnerable to post-fire shifts in resource availability, but also play a critical role in forest function. Inconsistencies in prior observations of small mammal community response to fire severity underscore the importance of examining mechanisms regulating fire severity effects on post-fire recovery. Here, we compare small mammal abundance, diversity, and community structure among habitats burned at varying fire severity, and use vegetation characteristics and small mammal functional traits to predict community response to fire severity. We captured 544 small mammals at 27 sites in three fire severity categories (unburned, low-moderate severity, and high severity) three years after a mega-fire in the California Sierra Nevada. We measured five vegetation variables known to predict small mammal communities, and determined three small mammal functional traits associated with resource use for the captured species. Using a model-based fourth-corner analysis, we examined how interactions between vegetation variables and small mammal traits regulated

post-fire small mammal community structure among fire severity categories. We found that overall small mammal abundance remained similar after fire, although diversity decreased and community structure shifted. Differences between unburned and low/moderate-severity sites were generally minimal while differences between unburned and high-severity sites were large. Three highly correlated fire-dependent vegetation variables (density of live trees, percent litter cover, and percent shrub cover) as well as volume of soft coarse woody debris were most associated with small mammal community structure. Furthermore, we found that interactions between these vegetation variables and three small mammal resource-use traits (feeding guild, primary foraging mode, and primary nesting habit) successfully predicted community structure among fire severity categories. We conclude that resource use is likely important for regulating post-fire small mammal recovery, since vegetation provides necessary resources to small mammals as determined by their functional traits.

- Given the mechanistic nature of our analyses, these results can be applied to other fire-prone forest systems.
- We suggest using these results to inform management decisions about fire severity.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction1		
Methods7		
	Study location	7
	Study sites and experimental design	7
	Vegetation surveys	10
	Small mammal sampling	11
	Small mammal abundance and diversity	12
	Small mammal community structure	13
	Vegetation drivers	14
	Small mammal functional traits	15
Results		17
	Site classification	17
	Small mammal abundance and diversity	18
	Small mammal community structure	20
	Vegetation drivers	21
	Small mammal functional traits	22
Discussio	on	23
	Fire effects on small mammals	23
	Mechanisms	26
	Conclusions	28

Figures .		
	Fig. 1	30
	Fig. 2	32
	Fig. 4	34
	Fig. 5	36
	Fig. 6	37
Referenc	es	
Appendi	x S1	52
	Fig. S1	52
	Table S1	52
	Table S2	54
	References (Appendix)	56

Introduction

The world is burning at an alarming rate. Across western North America, wildfires in various ecosystems have become larger and more frequent over the past three decades (Abatzoglou & Williams, 2016; Schoennagel et al., 2017; S. L. Stephens et al., 2014; Yue et al., 2013). In California alone, the 2020 wildfire season accounted for five of the largest wildfires on record, often termed "mega-fires" owing to their severity and extent. Yet despite the strong potential for these shifts to affect vertebrate communities, we have limited information on how vertebrate wildlife is affected by changes in forest fire size and severity, much less the mechanisms that drive these effects and how they may vary across functional groups. Recent reviews highlight the need to prioritize research on the mechanisms driving post-fire community shifts in order to tease apart variation across species and fire regimes (Driscoll et al., 2010; Griffiths & Brook, 2014). In particular, determining the effects of fire severity on forest vertebrates is critical both because of needs for their conservation and for the many roles they play in regulating plant communities, forest regeneration, trophic structure, and other ecosystem functions (Morrison et al., 2012). Specifically, studies on high-severity fire effects on mammals are needed; a recent meta-analysis on fire-prone forests of the US found only two studies of high-severity fire impacts on small mammals, despite the roles that small mammals play in forest ecosystems (Fontaine & Kennedy, 2012).

Small mammals are critical for the function of forest ecosystems, including mixed conifer forests. Small mammals can modify the structure of forest vegetation through seed predation and dispersal (Briggs et al., 2009; Schnurr et al., 2004; Vander Wall, 2008), and are key agents for the dispersal of ectomycorrhizal fungi (Pyare & Longland, 2001). In addition, small mammals constitute food for predators, including rare North American

species such as the Spotted Owl (*Strix occidentalis*) and Pacific fisher (*Pekania pennanti*) (Carey et al., 1992; Zielinski & Duncan, 2004), and serve as vectors or hosts for multiple pathogens (Ecke et al., 2019; Ostfeld et al., 2018; P. R. Stephens et al., 2016). Given the roles that small mammals play in forests, it is important to delineate the effects of fire severity on their community structure and function (Kirkman et al., 2013).

In general, small mammal community structure shifts after wildfire, although the observed patterns are often inconsistent. Fire can decrease small mammal diversity by favoring generalist species over specialists (Zwolak & Foresman, 2007), but a post-fire decrease in diversity is not always observed (Roberts et al., 2015). Total small mammal abundance tends to be slightly higher in burned habitats (Griffiths & Brook, 2014), but observed abundance patterns are highly variable across systems (Borchert et al., 2014; Converse, Block, et al., 2006; Fisher & Wilkinson, 2005).

Some of these discrepancies may be due to differences in fire severity, which is a measure of the loss of organic material due to fire in a given area. High-severity fire is characterized by a scorched canopy, severe loss of organic matter aboveground and belowground, and a large reduction in plant biomass (Keeley, 2009). Data from birds suggest that high-severity fires often elicit stronger wildlife responses than less severe fires (Fontaine & Kennedy, 2012; Pastro et al., 2014), although responses often depend on time since fire. Bats seem to show greater overall resilience to fire but do some show variation by fire severity, particularly at very large scales (Ancillotto et al., 2020; Law et al., 2018; Steel et al., 2019).

Fires alter forest vegetation according to fire severity both directly and indirectly, thereby changing the availability of vegetation resources for small mammals. As a measure

of organic material loss, fire severity correlates with direct vegetation mortality due to fire. Over longer timescales, fire severity also indirectly shapes vegetation structure by regulating light competition, soil nutrients, growth of ruderal species, and accumulation of dead vegetative matter (Webster & Halpern, 2010). High-severity fire often engenders stronger increases in shrub and herbaceous vegetation cover than lower severity fire (Webster & Halpern, 2010), and can influence leaf litter and coarse woody debris inputs through time (Apigian et al., 2006).

In turn, these vegetation shifts influence small mammals by regulating the availability of key resources. Vegetation, downed wood, and litter cover all provide several key resources to small mammals, in the form of protection from predators (Powell & Banks, 2004; Torre & Díaz, 2004), key food resources (Reid, 2006; Whitaker, 1996), nesting sites (Innes et al., 2007; McComb, 2003), and high-quality foraging habitat (Bos & Carthew, 2003; Jia-bing et al., 2005). Indeed, post-fire small mammal recovery may be limited by resource availability and demographic rates more than recolonization (Banks et al., 2011).

Some studies report differences in small mammal response between moderate- and high-severity fire in conifer forests (Kyle & Block, 2000; Roberts et al., 2008), while others show negligible differences (Borchert et al., 2014). Further, vegetation-dependent effects of fire on small mammals appear to be species-specific (Converse, White, et al., 2006; Fontaine & Kennedy, 2012; Kalies et al., 2010; Zwolak, 2009). For example, meta-analyses of small mammal response to fire in North America show that the deer mouse (*Peromyscus maniculatus*) and white-footed mouse (*P. leucopus*) generally increase in abundance after fire, while the southern red-backed vole (*Myodes gapperi*) decreases in abundance after fire (Fontaine & Kennedy, 2012; Zwolak, 2009).

Inter-species variation in small mammal response to fire may be explained by small mammal functional traits, especially those which correspond to resource use. Several small mammal traits are hypothesized to correspond with post-fire shifts in community structure and thereby explain species-specific patterns (Ceradini & Chalfoun, 2017; Kelly et al., 2010; Plavsic, 2014). In particular, traits such as diet, foraging mode, locomotion, and nesting habit are related to resource use and therefore likely to respond to shifts in resource availability after fire (Flynn et al., 2009). Other traits such as reproductive rate, home range size, and longevity have been linked to immediate post-fire responses since they directly influence survival and recolonization ability, but are not as directly linked to resource use (Whelan et al., 2002). Body size has also been correlated with post-fire survival (Griffiths & Brook, 2014), but this may be due in part to its correlation with life history traits directly related to colonization and survival (Hutchings et al., 2012).

The objective of this study was to clarify how interactions between fire severity, vegetation characteristics, and small mammal traits ultimately shape post-fire small mammal community structure. We used a model-based fourth-corner framework to examine these interactions, given that trait-based approaches that incorporate key habitat variables are particularly well-suited for revealing the mechanistic underpinnings of post-fire recovery (Driscoll et al., 2010; McGill et al., 2006). We compared nine sites within each fire severity category, as robust spatial replication is crucial for mechanistic studies in order to account for random habitat variation (Griffiths & Brook, 2014). To our knowledge, this is the first application of fourth-corner techniques to examine drivers of post-fire small mammal communities.

In this study, we examined the drivers of small mammal community structure after the King Fire, a mega-fire in the north-central Sierra Nevada of California. The King Fire burned 39,545 ha in September and October 2014, following a historic California drought (Fig. 1a). Over 50% of the total King Fire area burned at a high severity, including one continuous 13,683-ha high-severity patch (G. M. Jones et al., 2016). Within the King Fire perimeter, fire severity ranged from low to high (Fig. 1b) with vegetation in high-severity areas shifting drastically from a mixed conifer forest with limited understory before the fire to a homogenous shrub-dominated understory with skeletal trunks after the fire (Fig. 1d). The extent of high-severity fires in the north-central Sierra Nevada of California has increased over the past three decades, in part due to timber harvesting practices and past fire suppression (Agee, 1998; Miller et al., 2009). More recently, fire regime shifts are being exacerbated by climate change through a lengthened fire season, warming temperatures, and increased drought frequency (Westerling et al., 2006). As one of the first well-publicized mega-fires in California, the King Fire was a seemingly anomalous event that is quickly becoming the norm.

We compared small mammal communities in high-severity, low/moderate-severity, and unburned habitat within one geographic area three years after the King Fire. Specifically, we addressed differences among fire severity categories in relation to the following questions: 1) How do small mammal abundance, diversity, and community structure respond to fires of low/moderate versus high severity? 2) Which vegetation characteristics are associated with fire-related shifts in mammal community structure? 3) Which small mammal traits explain variation in the community response to fire severity?

We hypothesized that the effects of fire severity on small mammal community structure would be mediated by resource use, as shown by significant interactions between vegetation characteristics and small mammal traits. In particular, we expected to see postfire increases in small mammal abundance, decreases in diversity, and shifts in community structure, consistent with previously reported trends (Griffiths & Brook, 2014; Zwolak & Foresman, 2007), with stronger effects in high-severity vs. low/moderate-severity habitat (Fontaine & Kennedy, 2012; Pastro et al., 2014). We hypothesized that that vegetation shifts in shrub cover, forb and grass cover, litter cover, density of live trees, and amount of welldecayed coarse woody debris would be associated with fire severity and thereby predict post-fire small mammal community structure (Borchert et al., 2014; Bos & Carthew, 2003; Jia-bing et al., 2005; Miklós & Îiak, 2002; Powell & Banks, 2004). We also hypothesized that feeding guild, foraging mode, and nesting habit would explain vegetation-related variation in post-fire small mammal community structure, due to the traits' association with resource use (Flynn et al., 2009; Griffiths & Brook, 2014; Plavsic, 2014).

By using well-controlled methods and replicated study sites, we aimed to clarify the mechanisms driving small mammal community structure after a mega-fire. With the prospect of shifting fire regimes, understanding the mechanisms linking fire severity to changes in small mammal community structure will be crucial for developing informed management plans. General management recommendations:

- This is especially relevant for fire-prone forests, in western North America and globally, that are experiencing more frequent/severe fire
- Our results can guide managers who are planning fire treatments to regulate fire severity with the goal of maximizing small mammal diversity

Methods

Study location

Fieldwork for this study was conducted in Eldorado National Forest (38°45'N 120°20'W), near Placerville, California, within the footprint of the King Fire, which burned 39,545 ha from September to October 2014 (**Fig. 1**). Sampled sites ranged in elevation from 1300-1900 m, and pre-burn vegetation consisted of lower montane mixed conifer forest. Mixed conifer forests are found throughout the Sierra Nevada region and are characterized by a Mediterranean climate with wet winters and dry summers. Common tree species at the study sites included yellow pine (*Pinus ponderosa* and *P. jeffreyi*), sugar pine (*P. lambertiana*), white fir (*Abies concolor*), incense cedar (*Calocedrus decurrens*), Douglas-fir (*Pseudotsuga menziesii*), black oak (*Quercus kelloggii*), and red fir (*A. magnifica*). The most common post-fire species were chaparral shrubs such as deer brush (*Ceanothus integerrimus*), mountain whitethorn (*C. cordulatus*), greenleaf manzanita (*Arctostaphylos patula*), and prostrate ceanothus (*C. prostratus*).

Study sites and experimental design

In summer 2017 we established 27 sampling sites across three fire severity categories, with nine unburned control sites (located outside the fire boundary), nine low/moderate-severity sites, and nine high-severity sites (**Fig. 1b**). Site candidates were selected using elevation data and remotely-sensed vegetation classes from the California Wildlife Habitat Relationships program (CWHR) (Mayer & Laudenslayer, 1988), although, as detailed below, burn categories were subsequently validated using both field data and Landsat-derived burn severity imagery.

All sites were established in publicly owned areas with no recent pre-fire logging or post-fire salvage logging and located at least 50 m from the nearest road, stream or dissimilar habitat type, such as a clear-cut. According to Fire and Resource Assessment Program (FRAP) fire perimeter data, none of the sites experienced wildfire or controlled burning within the century before the King Fire (Fire and Resource Assessment Program, 2020). Slopes within all sites did not exceed 30 degrees. Sites were located >100 m from each other (except for two adjacent plots separated by a dirt road), and the average distance from each site to the nearest site was 1.4 km. Sampling took place from late June to early September 2017. To minimize seasonal effects associated with sampling throughout the summer, triplicate unburned, low/moderate-severity, and high-severity sites were sampled simultaneously. All mammal and vegetation surveys at a single site were conducted within 4–5 days. The climate was consistently hot and dry at all sites (15–40°C), with no precipitation throughout the sampling period.

We established the similarity of vegetation at our sites before the King Fire and compared pre-fire to immediate post-fire conditions using spatial data products from the Landscape Fire and Resource Management Planning Tools program (LANDFIRE) developed in 2012 (LF 1.3.0) and 2014 (LF 1.4.0) (Rollins & Frame, 2006). In particular, we used two metrics from LANDFIRE: Existing Vegetation Cover (EVC), which is a measure of the percent cover of the most dominant lifeform (tree, shrub, or herb) within 30m cells; and Existing Vegetation Type (EVT), which classifies the dominant terrestrial ecological system within 30-m cells as described by NatureServe (Comer et al., 2003). To

compare potential wildlife habitat across sites, we converted the EVT classes into CWHR habitat classes (Comer et al., 2003). Essentially, for each site, we counted the number of cells within each level of vegetation cover (for EVC) or vegetation type (for CWHR, converted from EVT). We included all cells from within each mammal trapping site (90×90 m) plus a buffer of 225 m (the diameter of the largest home range of a captured species according to values from the PanTHERIA database, (K. E. Jones et al., 2009), excluding cells from vegetation types that comprised <1% of the area sampled for each time period.

To quantitatively compare EVC among the three fire severity categories for both prefire and post-fire periods, we used ordinal ranks for the percent cover of trees based on the categories provided by LANDFIRE, with cell values representing dominant shrubs and herbs lumped into the lowest rank. We compared ranked sums using two Kruskal-Wallis tests with a Bonferroni correction. Effect size was calculated as eta squared using the Hstatistic and post hoc pairwise comparisons were conducted using Bonferroni-corrected Dunn's tests. To test differences between pre-fire and post-fire EVC for each of the three fire severity categories, we used three Bonferroni-corrected Wilcoxon ranked sum tests. Wilcoxon effect size was calculated as the r value.

Given the sampling design and the difficulty of using any one metric to describe fire severity, all analyses in this paper were conducted using categorical bins of fire severity (high severity, low/moderate severity, and unburned) rather than a quantitative site-specific severity score. To validate that these bins distinguished meaningfully different fire severity categories, we used both remote sensing and field data. We used remote sensing data from Monitoring Trends in Burn Severity (MTBS) maps, which classify burn severity using Landsat reflectance imagery of pre-fire and post-fire conditions at 30-m resolution

(Eidenshink et al., 2007). MTBS classifies severity into five possible scores (0 = outside the burn boundary; 1 = unburned-low severity within the fire perimeter; 2 = low severity; 3 = moderate severity; 4 = high severity). For each treatment, we determined the mean MTBS pixel value within each mammal trapping site and its home range buffer.

In the field, we also tested for differences in fire-related tree mortality among severity categories based on surveys of trees along two 50-m vegetation transects at each site. For all trees with boles within a 15-m wide band (750 m² per transect) and with a diameter at breast height (DBH) greater than 15 cm, we recorded if the tree was alive or dead. We calculated percent tree mortality as the number of dead trees divided by the total. We compared percent tree mortality and average severity pixel value per site between the three fire severity categories using Kruskal-Wallis tests followed by Bonferroni-corrected Dunn's tests.

Vegetation surveys

We used five measures of vegetation to examine relationships between small mammal community structure and environmental conditions: density of live trees (field methods detailed above), litter cover, cover of understory shrubs, cover of understory grass and forbs, and volume of coarse woody debris (CWD). All vegetation data was taken along the same two 50-m transects used for estimating tree mortality at each site. The vegetation transects ran parallel to two sides of the small mammal trapping grid, with either opposite or adjacent placement depending on topography, and were located 10–20 m away from the grid edge. To characterize litter and understory vegetation cover, we estimated percent cover of litter material and live vegetation up to 1 m tall within 1-m² quadrats located every 5 m along each transect (10 quadrats per transect, 10 m² total). All live understory vegetation

was categorized as tree, shrub, grass, or forb, and percent cover was estimated separately for each lifeform.

Coarse woody debris (CWD) was also surveyed along the same vegetation transects, using line-intercept sampling methods (Waddell, 2002). For each piece of CWD (defined as wood longer than 1 m with the diameter at the point of transect intersection >12.5 cm), we recorded the length, smallest diameter, and largest diameter. The volume of CWD per m² was determined using Smalian's volume formula and DeVries' formula, which converts line-intercept data into volume per unit area (DeVries, 1973; Waddell, 2002). We also recorded the decay class for each piece of CWD (ranging from 1 = intact sound wood, to 5 = soft powdery wood with no structural integrity, (Maser et al., 1979). Only well-decayed CWD with decay class 3–5 were included in analyses, since this material is more heavily utilized by small mammals than less-decayed wood (Jia-bing et al., 2005).

Small mammal sampling

At each site we sampled small mammal communities within one 90×90 m trapping grid, with traps placed 10 m apart (100 traps per grid). Grids were arranged by alternating large ($7.5 \times 9 \times 23$ cm) and extra-large ($10 \times 11.5 \times 38$ cm) Sherman traps baited with a mixture of oats, peanut butter, bird seed, and molasses. To improve trap success, we allowed animals to acclimate by prebaiting traps while holding them open for three nights. We then sampled each grid for three continuous trap nights (maximum of 300 trap nights per site). Traps were opened between 17:00 and 19:00 and closed between 09:00 and 011:00, with no daytime trapping effort due to heat. Captured small mammals were identified to species using external morphological characteristics and marked with unique ear tags, or for shrews only, clipped fur. We also recorded each mammal's mass and age class, and noted any

disturbed traps in order to assess trapping effort. Although traps were primarily open at night, several diurnal species (chipmunks and ground squirrels) were regularly captured; this is probably because traps were consistently open for a few hours after sunrise and before sunset at all sites. Since trapping times were standardized across sites, our sampling scheme allowed a comparison of the relative abundances of all captured species across sites, including diurnal animals.

Small mammal abundance and diversity

From the trapping data, we calculated small mammal abundance as the number of unique individuals captured over each sampling period at each site, representing the minimum number of animals known to be alive (MNKA). To confirm similarity in capture success among treatments, we compared the recapture rate of marked individuals (number of recaptured individuals per number of total captures) among the three fire severity categories using a Kruskal-Wallis test. Due to the capture of five rare species (detailed below), we ran all small mammal abundance, diversity, and community structure analyses twice, with and without rare species included.

Abundance estimates for all analyses were standardized by trapping effort, so that abundance was measured in individuals per trapping grid per trap night (~300 per night, although usually slightly lower when disturbed traps were removed and sprung traps were reduced by half). We calculated the biomass of each species at each site as the product of the species' abundance multiplied by the mean body mass from field measurements of adults. Total small mammal abundance and total biomass, as well as the abundances of individual species, were compared among fire severity categories using Kruskal-Wallis tests followed by Bonferroni-corrected Dunn's tests.

To characterize the diversity of the small mammal community, we calculated species richness and evenness for each site and compared these across fire severity categories using ANOVA with post hoc pairwise comparisons by Tukey HSD. Rarefied species richness was estimated by individual-based rarefaction using the rarefy function in the R package vegan (Oksanen et al., 2018; Thompson et al., 2007; Willott, 2001). We used Pielou's index to calculate species evenness (Pielou, 1966).

Small mammal community structure

We used a combination of model-based and association-based methods for multivariate analysis of the small mammal community. Specifically, we built a multivariate generalized linear model (GLM) to examine differences in small mammal community structure among fire severity treatments and used NMDS ordination for visualization of these patterns. GLMs are ideal for analyzing multivariate abundance data since they can account for key properties of site-species data, namely a strong mean-variance relationship and strong correlation between response variables due to species interactions (Wang et al., 2012; Warton, Foster, et al., 2015).

We built the first multivariate GLM using fire severity category as a predictor variable and small mammal abundances as response variables (GLM_{severity}). We standardized across sites by including trapping effort as an offset in the model and assumed a negative binomial distribution of abundance data. We included Principal Components of Neighborhood Matrix (PCNM) distances as a metric of spatial autocorrelation in our models (Dray et al., 2006). The model was created with the function manyglm in R package mvabund, using the approach developed by (Wang et al., 2019). Multivariate test statistics were calculated using the Score statistic since our data included small abundance means due

to rare species, and we accounted for correlation between species by shrinking the sample correlation (Warton, 2011). To test model significance, we calculated p-values using the PIT-trap bootstrapping method for resampling of rows with the anova.manyglm function (Warton et al., 2017). We also calculated univariate test statistics and p-values to determine which species were driving patterns.

To visually represent differences in community structure among fire severity categories, we conducted nonmetric multidimensional scaling (NMDS) on the abundance of all captured species across sites using the metaMDS function in the R package vegan (Oksanen et al., 2018). Raw abundance values were standardized using the Hellinger method, which standardizes abundance by site and then applies a square root transformation (Legendre & Gallagher, 2001). We then generated a Bray-Curtis dissimilarity matrix and produced a 3-dimensional ordination. To corroborate the results of GLM_{severity}, we evaluated the similarity in community structure among fire severity categories using a permutational multivariate analysis of variance of Hellinger-standardized abundance (adonis function in vegan, (Oksanen et al., 2018). Post-hoc pairwise comparisons of categories were conducted using the function pairwise.adonis in R package pairwiseAdonis, followed by Bonferroni corrections (Martinze Arbizu, 2020).

Vegetation drivers

We explored the effect of each of five vegetation variables on small mammal community structure. Variables were selected based on established association with small mammal community composition and included the following metrics: percent shrub cover (Borchert et al., 2014; Torre & Díaz, 2004); percent forb and grass cover (Plavsic, 2014; Powell & Banks, 2004); density of live trees (Lobo, 2014; Miklós & Îiak, 2002); volume of

well-decayed coarse woody debris (Fauteux et al., 2012; Jia-bing et al., 2005; McComb, 2003); and percent litter cover (Bos & Carthew, 2003; Greenberg et al., 2007). To visualize how these variables corresponded with small mammal community structure, we plotted vectors for each vegetation variable onto the NMDS plot using the function envfit in vegan (Oksanen et al., 2018).

To determine which of these vegetation characteristics varied with fire severity, we compared among fire severity categories using Kruskal-Wallis tests followed by Bonferronicorrected Dunn's tests. We also checked for correlation between the vegetation variables using Spearman's rank correlation coefficients. For variables with coefficients >0.5, we used principal component analysis (PCA) to collapse the variables into a single metric (the first principal component, PC1) that explained a large portion of variance, which we incorporated into our model.

To determine which vegetation variables predicted most of the variation in small mammal community, we built a second multivariate GLM using PC1 and the remaining vegetation variables as predictors and small mammal abundances as response variables (GLM_{veg}). This GLM also included PCNM distances to account for spatial autocorrelation and was generated using the same methods as above. We used AIC selection to determine which combination of predictors best explained variance in the data, and used the function summary.manyglm with PIT-trap bootstrapping to test the significance of each predictor in the final model.

Small mammal functional traits

We hypothesized that small mammal functional traits related to resource use would correlate with fire-related vegetation changes. Specifically, we explored the following three largely independent resource use traits: feeding guild (Flynn et al., 2009; Plavsic, 2014), primary foraging mode (Flynn et al., 2009), and primary nesting habit (Ceradini & Chalfoun, 2017; Flynn et al., 2009). While other traits might also be important, they are either correlated with these traits (e.g. body size) or poorly known across all species (e.g. dispersal distance and fecundity). To account for variability in the information provided by different literature sources (Fitzsimmons, 2013), trait information was collated from two field guides as well as species accounts from the American Society of Mammalogists (**Appendix S1: Table S1**). Feeding guild was recorded as herbivore, omnivore, or insectivore (**Appendix S1: Table S2**). Primary foraging mode was recorded as ground, scansorial, or arboreal (**Appendix S1: Table S3**). Primary nesting habit was recorded as tree, hollow (aboveground, e.g. rock crevices or brush piles), or burrow (underground) (**Appendix S1: Table S4**).

(Appendix 51. Table 54).

To investigate interactions between small mammal traits and vegetation variables, we used a model-based fourth-corner approach. Within this framework, three matrices representing site-species data, site-environmental data, and species-trait data are used to calculate a fourth matrix ("fourth corner") that estimates interactions between environmental and trait variables (Brown et al., 2014). We created our fourth-corner model (GLM_{trait}) using the traitglm function in mvabund, which predicts species abundance using environment by trait interactions (Warton, Shipley, et al., 2015). We assumed a negative binomial distribution of abundance data. Since this framework does not yet allow offsets to account for trapping effort, we used site-standardized abundances in our site-species matrix. We only included vegetation variables that were significant in GLM_{veg}. For model selection, we used the LASSO penalty to remove interaction coefficients that did not reduce BIC (Brown et al.,

2014). We visualized the model results by creating a heat map of the remaining standardized fourth-corner coefficient estimates. To test for model significance, we calculated a p-value using the PIT-trap bootstrapping method for resampling of rows with the anova.traitglm function (Brown et al., 2014).

All statistical analyses were performed using the program R (R Core Team, 2018). The maps in Fig. 1 were created using QGIS (QGIS Development Team, 2018).

Results

Site classification

Before the King Fire in 2014, vegetation in the 27 sites was consistent across the three fire severity categories, with habitats consisting predominantly of Sierran mixed conifer forest or other conifer forest types in 2012 (**Fig. 2b**). Although pre-fire tree cover was highly variable across sites (range 20–80%), differences were comparatively minimal among the three fire severity categories, with a small effect size (**Fig. 2a**, Kruskal-Wallis H₂ = 12.3, p < 0.01, effect size = 0.0056).

After the 2014 King Fire, vegetation shifted from mixed conifer forest to montane chaparral, with the most drastic shifts occurring in high-severity sites (**Fig. 2b**). We observed a very large difference between pre-fire and post-fire percent cover of trees in high-severity sites (Wilcoxon W = 3420, p < 0.001, effect size = 0.94). In comparison, pre-fire and post-fire tree cover were only moderately different in low/moderate-severity sites (Wilcoxon W = 172929, p < 0.001, effect size = 0.33), and indistinguishable in unburned sites (Wilcoxon W = 149933, p = 0.57, effect size = 0.039).

The three fire severity categories also showed strong differences in vegetation and fire severity after the King Fire. Immediately post-fire in 2014, the percent cover of trees among the three fire severity categories differed greatly (**Fig. 2a**, Kruskal-Wallis H₂ = 1535, p < 0.001, effect size = 0.66, all post hoc p < 0.001). In addition, sites in the three fire severity categories showed strong differences in average fire severity, as measured from MTBS pixels (**Fig. 1c**, Kruskal-Wallis H₂ = 23.4, p < 0.001, effect size = 0.89, all post hoc p < 0.05). Three years after the fire, these differences were still distinct, with drastically different tree mortality among treatments according to 2017 field data (**Fig. 1c**, Kruskal-Wallis H₂ = 25.0, p < 0.001, effect size = 0.96, all post hoc p < 0.05).

Small mammal abundance and diversity

We captured 544 individuals of 11 small mammal species over 7810 trap nights. The 11 species captured were the North American deer mouse (*Peromyscus maniculatus*, n = 425), Trowbridge's shrew (*Sorex trowbridgii*, n = 34), California ground squirrel (*Otospermophilus beecheyi*, n = 23), brush mouse (*P. boylii*, n = 18), long-eared chipmunk (*Neotamias quadrimaculatus*, n = 17), shadow chipmunk (*N. senex*, n = 12), dusky-footed woodrat (*Neotoma fuscipes*, n = 5), yellow-pine chipmunk (*N. amoenus*, n = 4), northern flying squirrel (*Glaucomys sabrinus*, n = 2), pinyon mouse (*P. truei*, n = 2), and western harvest mouse (*Reithrodontomys megalotis*, n = 2). The deer mouse was by far the most frequently captured species, making up 78% of total captures. The results reported here include the five rare species (those with \leq 5 captures), since we found no substantial differences upon excluding these species. Species accumulation curves indicate that at the level of fire severity category, trapping effort was sufficient to indicate a species' presence

(Appendix S1: Fig. S1). The recapture rate of marked individuals was similar among fire severity categories (Kruskal-Wallis $H_2 = 0.13$, p = 0.94)

The relative abundances of different mammal species varied across fire severity categories (**Fig. 4a**). Four species (deer mouse, long-eared chipmunk, California ground squirrel, and brush mouse) were found at sites in all three fire severity categories, although they were trapped more often at sites within the two burned categories. Two species were found in both unburned and low/moderate-severity sites (Trowbridge's shrew and dusky-footed woodrat), but these species were more frequently caught in unburned habitat. Two rare species (northern flying squirrel and western harvest mouse) were caught exclusively at unburned sites, and two chipmunk species (yellow-pine chipmunk and Allen's chipmunk) were caught exclusively at burned sites. The final species was the pinyon mouse, a rare species that was caught once at an unburned site and once at a high-severity site.

Total small mammal abundance did not differ statistically among fire categories, although the median abundance was much higher in high-severity sites (28 individuals) than unburned or low/moderate-severity sites (19 and 16 individuals, respectively) (**Fig. 3a**, Kruskal-Wallis $H_2 = 5.44$, p = 0.066, effect size = 0.14). Similarly, differences in total small mammal biomass among treatments were not significant (**Fig. 3a**, Kruskal-Wallis $H_2 = 1.45$, p = 0.48, effect size = 0.023). Median deer mouse abundance, however, almost doubled from 13 individuals in unburned sites to 24 individuals in high-severity sites (**Fig. 3b**, Kruskal-Wallis $H_2 = 9.25$, p < 0.01, effect size = 0.30, post hoc p < 0.01), although there were no differences in deer mouse abundance between unburned and low/moderate-severity sites (post hoc p = 0.86). Shrew abundance showed the opposite relationship with fire severity, with median abundance decreasing from unburned sites (4 individuals) to

low/moderate-severity and high-severity sites (0 individuals for both) (**Fig. 3b**, Kruskal-Wallis H₂ = 18.54, p < 0.001, effect size = 0.69, post hoc p < 0.01). Differences in shrew abundance between low/moderate-severity and high-severity sites were negligible (post hoc p = 0.19). No statistically significant differences in the abundances of other species among burn severity categories were found.

Small mammal diversity as measured by richness and evenness was lower in highseverity sites. Rarefied species richness was much lower in high-severity sites compared to unburned and low/moderate-severity sites (**Fig. 3c**, ANOVA $F_{2,24} = 7.19$, p < 0.01, effect size = 0.77, post hoc p < 0.05), but differences in rarefied richness between unburned and low/moderate-severity sites were minimal (post hoc p = 0.36). Pielou's evenness was also lower in high-severity sites compared to unburned sites (**Fig. 3c**, ANOVA $F_{2,24} = 3.65$, p = 0.045, effect size = 0.60, post hoc p < 0.05), although evenness in low/moderate-severity sites was statistically similar to both unburned and high-severity sites (post hoc p = 0.31, 0.36 respectively).

Small mammal community structure

GLM_{severity} indicated that small mammal community structure differed among fire severity categories (score_{24,2} = 31.73, p < 0.001). PCNM (accounting for spatial autocorrelation) was not a significant predictor in this model (score_{23,1} = 12.03, p = 0.13). Species-specific responses showed that the deer mouse (score_{24,2} = 11.48, p < 0.01) and Trowbridge's shrew (score_{24,2} = 9.80, p < 0.01) were driving community response to fire severity. NMDS results further demonstrated that community structure varied among fire severity categories (**Fig. 4b**, adonis $F_{2,24} = 4.96$, $R^2 = 0.29$, p = 0.001), with post-hoc analysis indicating that community structure in unburned sites was significantly different than both low/moderate-severity and high-severity sites (post hoc p < 0.01).

Vegetation drivers

Out of the five vegetation variables that we predicted would affect small mammal community structure, three varied among the fire severity categories. The density of live trees varied most strongly among the fire severity categories, with high-severity sites showing much lower density (**Fig. 5a**, Kruskal-Wallis H₂ = 22.26, p < 0.001, effect size = 0.84, post hoc p < 0.05). Percent litter cover was also lower in high-severity sites (**Fig. 5a**, Kruskal-Wallis H₂ = 19.06, p < 0.001, effect size = 0.71, post hoc p < 0.05), and percent shrub cover was higher in high-severity sites (**Fig. 5a**, Kruskal-Wallis H₂ = 14.14, p < 0.01, effect size = 0.51, post hoc p < 0.01). In addition, live tree density, litter cover, and shrub cover all appeared strongly aligned with the fire severity categories in the NMDS plot (**Fig. 4b**). Unsurprisingly, these three variables were highly correlated (Spearman's correlation coefficients 0.66–0.74), so we collapsed them into the first principal component for use in GLM_{veg}. The resulting PC1_{T+S+L} accounted for 73.4% of variance in the three variables, and was higher at high-severity sites (**Fig. 5a**, Kruskal-Wallis H₂ = 21.60, p < 0.001, effect size = 0.82, post hoc p < 0.05).

The remaining two vegetation variables, soft CWD and forb/grass cover, did not vary among fire severity categories (**Fig 5b**, Kruskal-Wallis $H_2 = 1.90$, p = 0.99 for CWD; $H_2 = 3.33$, p = 0.95 for forb/grass cover). Furthermore, soft CWD and forb/grass cover were not strongly correlated with each other or with the other vegetation variables (Spearman's correlation coefficients <0.4). In the NDMS plot, these variables appear to drive more of the variation within each fire severity category (**Fig. 4b**).

The candidate predictors for GLM_{veg} were PC1_{T+S+L} (vegetation variables that changed with fire), soft CWD, forb/grass cover, and PCNM (controlling for spatial autocorrelation). According to AIC model selection, the best model included PC1_{T+S+L} and soft CWD as predictors (AIC = 583.11, AIC weight = 0.94). No other model received substantial support, although upon re-running analyses without rare species we found that including PCNM in addition to PC1_{T+S+L} and soft CWD marginally improved model fit (with PCNM: AIC = 491.39, AIC weight = 0.33; without PCNM: AIC = 491.61, AIC weight = 0.29). Given the unambiguous AIC results with rare species included as well as the fact that rare species did not affect any other analyses, we excluded PCNM from our final model. The final model displayed good model fit according to Dunn-Smyth residuals and successfully predicted small mammal community structure (score_{24,2} = 37.57, p < 0.01). PC1_{T+S+L} (vegetation variables that changed with fire) was the strongest predictor of community structure (score_{24,2} = 27.40, p < 0.001), with volume of soft CWD also having substantial, but much lower, predictive value (score_{24,2} = 16.72, p = 0.028).

Small mammal functional traits

GLM_{trait} successfully predicted small mammal community structure (Deviance_{248,12} = 60.89, p = 0.02), indicating that interactions between vegetation variables and small mammal functional traits were important for determining community structure. Specifically, the interaction coefficients of GLM_{trait} showed several correlations between small mammal traits and vegetation variables (**Fig. 6**). PC1_{T+S+L} (representing three vegetation variables that changed with fire: live tree density, shrub cover, and litter cover, **Fig. 5a**), was negatively correlated with insectivory (coefficient = -0.36), but positively correlated with omnivory (coefficient = 0.16). The volume of soft CWD was negatively correlated with

nesting in hollows (coefficient = -0.38), but positively correlated with both scansorial foraging (coefficient = 0.37) and nesting in burrows (coefficient = 0.12).

Discussion

With fire regimes changing across western North America and the risk of large highseverity wildfires increasing, the 2014 King Fire provides an important opportunity to examine wildlife response to "mega-fires." We used this system to investigate the mechanisms driving small mammal community structure three years post-burn. We were able to successfully predict small mammal community structure using vegetation characteristics of the sites and traits of the captured small mammals, indicating that resource use is likely an important component of post-fire small mammal recovery.

Fire effects on small mammals

Contrary to our expectation that small mammal abundance would increase at burned sites owing to the proliferation of deer mice, we did not find significant differences in overall abundance or biomass among sites in different fire severity categories; however, there were marginally significant increases (**Fig. 3a**, p < 0.07). Most of this effect was driven by deer mouse abundance, which was much higher at high-severity than unburned sites, although abundance was similar between low/moderate-severity and unburned sites (**Fig. 3b**). Because deer mice accounted for 78% of total captures, the non-significant patterns in total mammal abundance were largely a reflection of deer mouse abundance.

In general, omnivores such as the deer mouse, long-eared chipmunk, California ground squirrel, yellow-pine chipmunk, and shadow chipmunk were more frequently found in burned sites (**Fig. 4a**), although only the deer mouse showed statistically significant differences in median abundance between fire severities (**Fig. 3b**). Similarly, GLM_{trait} showed an interaction between omnivory and fire-related changes in vegetation, indicating that generalists tend to fare better in post-fire habitats (**Fig. 6**). The patterns in deer mouse abundance match those found in the literature, with abundance consistently increasing with fire severity (Fontaine & Kennedy, 2012; Krefting & Ahlgren, 1974; Zwolak, 2009). As generalist consumers, deer mice often invade disturbed habitats such as burned areas, clear-cuts, mine waste piles, and the blast zones of volcanic eruptions (Andersen & MacMahon, 1985; Kirkland, 1976; Sullivan & Krebs, 1981).

In contrast, the abundance of Trowbridge's shrew was much greater in unburned than both low/moderate- and high-severity sites (**Fig. 3b**). Unlike deer mice, shrews tend to decrease in abundance after fire, especially high-severity fire (Greenberg et al., 2007; Zwolak & Foresman, 2007). Previous work has shown that shrews are much more likely to decline after high-severity disturbances that remove leaf litter rather than after disturbances that leave litter intact (Greenberg et al., 2007). Consistent with this pattern, we found a large decrease of litter cover in high-severity sites; however, litter cover was similar between unburned and low/moderate-severity sites (**Fig. 5a**). Given the mismatch between high litter cover and low shrew abundance in low/moderate-severity sites, another habitat variable seems to be driving shrew abundance in these habitats. A plausible driver is soft CWD, which serves as habitat for invertebrates, a staple of the shrew diet (Jia-bing et al., 2005). However, our data do not show any strong differences in soft CWD among fire severity categories (**Fig. 5b**), and in fact GLM_{trait} showed a slight negative correlation between

insectivory and soft CWD (**Fig. 6**). This indicates that an additional variable that we did not measure might be important.

Several uncommonly captured species were also exclusively or disproportionately captured in unburned habitats. For example, the dusky-footed woodrat and the northern flying squirrel were only captured in unburned habitats. While this is likely a real effect given that these species are negatively affected by fire given their ecology (dependency on high tree density and use of wood pile dens), the sampling design of this study was not adequate to capture abundance effects of these species. As in many community-scale studies, it is difficult to detect effects on rare species, and thus we would strongly caution against interpreting lack of significant response in uncommonly detected species as evidence of lack of effect.

Small mammal richness and evenness were lower in high-severity compared to unburned sites, consistent with our initial hypotheses and literature findings (**Fig. 3c**, (Fisher & Wilkinson, 2005; Zwolak & Foresman, 2007). We did not find differences in richness and evenness between low/moderate-severity and unburned sites, however. In addition, we found that there were no statistically significant differences between low/moderate-severity and unburned sites in the vegetation variables that changed with fire (**Fig. 5a**), in part due to substantial variation among sites within the same fire severity category. Some fire effects in low/moderate-severity sites may also have dissipated in the three years between burning and sampling. The effects of high-severity fire are likely more long-lasting than effects of low/moderate-severity fire; previous studies have shown that small mammal responses to low-severity fire can be limited to <2 years (Horncastle et al., 2019). Notably, these results are limited by the fact that our analyses are all based on the minimum number of animals

known to be alive (MNKA), considering the low sample size of many species. This method does not account for differences in detectability, which may bias evenness metrics. However, given that our evenness results are consistent with richness responses (not limited by MNKA) we believe that this result is robust.

Despite statistical insignificance, small mammal richness and evenness appeared qualitatively lower in low/moderate-severity sites versus unburned sites, as did live tree density and litter cover (**Fig. 3c, Fig. 5a**). This validates previous studies showing that higher severity fires elicit stronger wildlife responses (Fontaine & Kennedy, 2012; Pastro et al., 2014). Interestingly, the results of our permutational multivariate analysis of variance contradicted our richness and evenness findings and indicated that overall small mammal community structure was more similar between low/moderate-severity and high-severity sites and differed in unburned sites (**Fig. 4b**). This pattern may have been driven largely by the Trowbridge's shrew, the second most frequently trapped mammal, which was virtually absent in all burned sites.

Mechanisms

In general, small mammal community structure is highly correlated with vegetation characteristics, perhaps more so than with other spatial characteristics (Schmid-Holmes & Drickamer, 2001). Vegetation provides several key resources to small mammals; in particular, understory vegetation cover serves as protection from predators (Powell & Banks, 2004; Torre & Díaz, 2004), as well as providing key food resources such as seeds, fruits, and vegetative matter, which are especially important to rodents (Reid, 2006; Whitaker, 1996). In mixed conifer forests, live trees are another major seed food source, even for ground-dwelling species (Lobo, 2014). Semi-arboreal mammals such as woodrats and flying

squirrels are even more dependent on live trees for nesting and food storage (Innes et al., 2007; Smith, 2007). Dead trees provide additional resources to small mammals through coarse woody debris and other types of litter material. Well-decayed coarse woody debris hosts a variety of mammal food items such as fungi and insects (Jia-bing et al., 2005), as well as providing cover and nesting space for small mammals (Fauteux et al., 2012; McComb, 2003). Leaf litter provides similarly high-quality foraging opportunities (Bos & Carthew, 2003), especially for shrews (Greenberg et al., 2007; MacCracken et al., 1985).

Since post-fire changes in live tree density, shrub cover, and litter cover were highly correlated in our sites, we could not reliably tease apart their effects on small mammals. However, in combination, these three variables appear to be strong drivers of small mammal community structure (Fig. 4b). Based on previous studies, shrub cover may be primarily responsible for these patterns. Post-fire shrub cover is often associated with shifts in small mammal community structure, in part since it provides protection from predators (Borchert et al., 2014; Converse, Block, et al., 2006; Torre & Díaz, 2004). Shifts in shrub cover, as well as shifts in litter cover, were likely directly linked to decreases in tree density, since post-fire reduction of trees increases light availability and decreases leaf litter inputs. Trees are also important for partially arboreal species such as the northern flying squirrel and dusky-footed woodrat, which were mostly absent from burned sites (**Fig. 4a**). Similarly, GLM_{trait} showed a slight negative correlation between arboreal foraging and tree-nesting and fire-related changes in vegetation (PC_{T+S+L} in **Fig. 6**). While sample size was relatively small for some of these species, these results are consistent with other findings (e.g. flying squirrels avoiding disturbed forest sites, (Sollmann et al., 2016).

Soft CWD also predicted small mammal community structure in our sites (significant predictor in GLM_{veg}, p = 028; **Fig. 4b**), although we did not find differences among fire severity categories (**Fig. 5b**). In contrast, previous studies have found that forest fires usually decrease coarse woody debris (Converse, Block, et al., 2006; Knapp et al., 2005). However, this discrepancy may be due to the timing of our study, which took place three years after fire. Volume of CWD can quickly rebound after fire as burned trees fall over (Bassett et al., 2015).

Similarly, we did not observe any differences in forb/grass cover between fire severity categories. Forb/grass cover was low (<15%) in the majority of sites, likely due to the dominance of other vegetation lifeforms, mainly trees in unburned sites, shrubs in highseverity sites, and both trees and shrubs in low/moderate-severity sites. As indicated by previous studies, differences in forb and grass cover were likely more apparent soon after the fire (Converse, Block, et al., 2006), before shrubs had time to grow and shade out forbs and grass. These results underscore the importance of considering relative timescales of different vegetation recovery processes when analyzing habitat (and wildlife) recovery postfire.

Conclusions

Three vegetation variables (density of live trees, shrub cover, and litter cover) were different in high-severity sites compared to other sites; furthermore, these variables were significant predictors of small mammal community structure when combined (**Fig. 5**). In turn, these vegetation characteristics influenced community structure by interacting with three small mammal traits related to resource use: feeding guild, foraging mode, and nesting habit (**Fig. 6**). Because small mammals are a key component of the structure and function of

forests, delineating their interactions with post-fire habitat is particularly important (Kirkman et al., 2013). As emphasized by recent reviews, studies on the mechanisms driving post-fire shifts in small mammal community structure are especially needed (Driscoll et al., 2010; Griffiths & Brook, 2014). Here, we used GLMs within a fourth-corner framework to determine that post-fire small mammal community structure was driven in part between habitat-mammal resource use interactions; extending this framework to additional systems and across longer timescales is a logical next step.

Mechanistic understanding of ecological response to wildfire severity is critical for the conservation and management of fire-prone systems (Freeman et al., 2017). Standreplacing forest fires have become more frequent in the Sierra Nevada of California over the past three decades (Miller, Safford, Crimmins, & Thode, 2009). More broadly, scientists have predicted continued increases in the number and size of wildfires both in western North America (Schoennagel et al., 2017; Yue et al., 2013) and at middle to high latitudes globally (Moritz et al., 2012).

- Our results show substantial differences between the effects of low/moderateseverity and high-severity fires, both in habitat structure and small mammal community response.
- This has implications for anyone trying to maximize diversity while managing for different fire severity regimes.

Figures



Fig. 1. Sites across a fire severity gradient. (a) The area of the 2014 King Fire is shown in red and the Sierra Nevada ecoregion within California is shown in light gray. (b) Sites were categorized by three fire severity levels (unburned, low/moderate severity, and high severity). (c) Treatment categories were determined using fire severity data from Monitoring Trends in Burn Severity (Eidenshink et al., 2007) and validated with field measurements of fire-related tree mortality along two 50-m transects per site, three years post-fire. MTBS severity and % tree mortality were different among treatments (Kruskal-Wallis $H_2 = 23.4$, p < 0.001, $\eta^2 = 0.89$; $H_2 = 25.0$, p < 0.001, $\eta^2 = 0.96$ respectively). Box plots show the median and upper/lower quartiles (n = 9 sites in each category). Fire severity categories with the same letter are not significantly different (p > 0.05). (d) Sites shifted from a mixed yellow-

pine forest to a shrub-dominated understory across the severity categories. Map created using QGIS (QGIS Development Team, 2018).



Fig. 2. Vegetation characteristics were similar across fire severity categories pre-fire (2012) but differed greatly post-fire (2014). For each fire severity category, stacked bars show the percentage of 30-m cells across nine sites by (a) percent cover classes of the dominant lifeform and (b) habitat type. There was little difference in % cover of trees among the three fire severity categories (Kruskal-Wallis $H_2 = 12.3$, p < 0.01, $\eta^2 = 0.0056$), whereas post-fire differences were large ($H_2 = 1535$, p < 0.001, $\eta^2 = 0.66$). Data are from LANDFIRE spatial data products for Existing Vegetation Type (converted into California Wildlife Habitat Relationships classes) and Existing Vegetation Cover (Rollins & Frame, 2006).



Fig. 3. Small mammal community structure and habitat preferences across fire severity categories. (a) Bar plot showing the percentage of unique individuals trapped in each of the three fire severity categories for each of the 11 species captured, with the number of total captures denoted by *n*. (b) NMDS plot showing variation in the small mammal community structure across sites. Each point represents a site, with color-coded ellipses encompassing ±1 standard deviation from the centroid for each category (*n* = 9 sites for each category). Arrows represent vectors for vegetation variables scaled by the *r*-value, with significant correlations (*p* < 0.05) denoted by asterisks. The vegetation variables are soft coarse woody debris (CWD, m³/ha), shrub cover (% cover), forb/grass cover (% cover), litter cover (% cover), tree density (trees/hectare), and PC1_{T+S+L} (representing the PC1 of the three variables that changed with fire: live tree density, shrub cover, and litter cover). The 11 small mammal species are displayed along each NMDS axis according to their relative association with each axis.



Fig. 4. Abundance and diversity metrics across fire severity categories. Box plots show median and upper/lower quartiles (n = 9 for each fire severity category). Categories in each plot with the same overlying letter are not significantly different; NS signifies no significant differences among categories. (**a**) Total small mammal abundance, calculated as the number of unique individuals captured over a 3-day sampling period at each site, and total small mammal biomass did not differ among fire severity treatments (Kruskal-Wallis $H_2 = 5.44$, p = 0.066, $\eta^2 = 0.14$; $H_2 = 1.45$, p = 0.48, $\eta^2 = 0.023$ respectively). (**b**) Individual species showed different responses to fire severity categories: Deer mice were more abundant at

high severity than other sites ($H_2 = 9.25$, p < 0.01, $\eta^2 = 0.30$), whereas Trowbridge's shrews were more abundant at unburned than other sites ($H_2 = 18.54$, p < 0.001, $\eta^2 = 0.69$). (c) Small mammal diversity, quantified as rarefied species richness (number of species per five individuals) and Pielou's index for species evenness, were lower at high severity sites than unburned sites (ANOVA $F_{2,24} = 7.19$, p < 0.01, $\eta^2 = 0.77$; $F_{2,24} = 3.65$, p = 0.045, $\eta^2 = 0.60$ respectively).



Fig. 5. Differences in vegetation characteristics among fire severity categories. Box plots show median and upper/lower quartiles (n = 9 for each). Significant differences designated as in Fig. 3. (a) Live tree density and litter cover where lower at high-severity sites than other sites (Kruskal-Wallis $H_2 = 22.26$, p < 0.001, $\eta^2 = 0.84$; $H_2 = 19.06$, p < 0.001, $\eta^2 = 0.71$ respectively), whereas shrub cover was higher at high-severity sites ($H_2 = 14.14$, p < 0.01, $\eta^2 = 0.51$). The first principal component (PC1_{T+S+L}) of live tree density, shrub cover, and litter cover explained 73.4% of variance in these three variables and was higher at high-severity than other sites ($H_2 = 21.60$, p < 0.001, $\eta^2 = 0.82$). (b) Volume of soft coarse woody debris (CWD) and forb/grass cover were not different among fire severity categories ($H_2 = 1.90$, p = 0.99; $H_2 = 3.33$, p = 0.95 respectively).



Fig. 6. Interaction coefficients between small mammal traits and vegetation variables. The heat map shows standardized interaction coefficient estimates from our fourth-corner model (GLM_{trait}) after variable selection using the LASSO penalty. Red (positive) and blue (negative) shading intensity represents the interaction strength between small mammal traits and vegetation variables. Small mammal traits (feeding guild, foraging mode, and nesting habit) are categorical with three levels each, as designated on the y-axis. The two vegetation variables are soft CWD (soft coarse woody debris, m^3/ha) and veg PC1_{T+S+L} (representing three vegetation variables that changed with fire: live tree density, shrub cover, and litter cover).

References

- Abatzoglou, J. T., & Williams, A. P. (2016). Impact of anthropogenic climate change on wildfire across western US forests. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 113(42), 11770–11775. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1607171113
- Ancillotto, L., Bosso, L., Conti, P., & Russo, D. (2020). Resilient responses by bats to a severe wildfire: Conservation implications. *Animal Conservation*, 12.
- Andersen, D. C., & MacMahon, J. A. (1985). The effects of catastrophic ecosystem disturbance: The residual mammals at Mount St. Helens. *Journal of Mammalogy*, 66(3), 581–589. https://doi.org/10.2307/1380942

Apigian, K. O., Dahlsten, D. L., & Stephens, S. L. (2006). Fire and fire surrogate treatment effects on leaf litter arthropods in a western Sierra Nevada mixed-conifer forest. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 221(1–3), 110–122. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2005.09.009

Banks, S. C., Dujardin, M., McBurney, L., Blair, D., Barker, M., & Lindenmayer, D. B. (2011). Starting points for small mammal population recovery after wildfire:
Recolonisation or residual populations? *Oikos*, *120*(1), 26–37. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0706.2010.18765.x

Bassett, M., Chia, E. K., Leonard, S. W. J., Nimmo, D. G., Holland, G. J., Ritchie, E. G., Clarke, M. F., & Bennett, A. F. (2015). The effects of topographic variation and the fire regime on coarse woody debris: Insights from a large wildfire. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 340, 126–134. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2014.12.028

Borchert, M. I., Farr, D. P., Rimbenieks-Negrete, M. A., & Pawlowski, M. N. (2014). Responses of small mammals to wildfire in a mixed conifer forest in the San Bernardino Mountains, California. *Bulletin, Southern California Academy of Sciences*, *113*(2), 81–95. https://doi.org/10.3160/0038-3872-113.2.81

- Bos, D., & Carthew, S. (2003). The influence of behaviour and season on habitat selection by a small mammal. *Ecography*, *26*(6), 810–820. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0906-7590.2003.03584.x
- Briggs, J. S., Vander Wall, S. B., & Jenkins, S. H. (2009). Forest rodents provide directed dispersal of Jeffrey pine seeds. *Ecology*, 90(3), 675–687. https://doi.org/10.1890/07-0542.1
- Brown, A. M., Warton, D. I., Andrew, N. R., Binns, M., Cassis, G., & Gibb, H. (2014). The fourth-corner solution: Using predictive models to understand how species traits interact with the environment. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 5(4), 344–352. https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.12163
- Carey, A. B., Horton, S. P., & Biswell, B. L. (1992). Northern spotted owls: Influence of prey base and landscape character. *Ecological Monographs*, 62(2), 223–250. https://doi.org/10.2307/2937094
- Ceradini, J. P., & Chalfoun, A. D. (2017). Species' traits help predict small mammal responses to habitat homogenization by an invasive grass. *Ecological Applications*, 27(5), 1451–1465. https://doi.org/10.1002/eap.1535
- Comer, P., Faber-Langendoen, D., Evans, R., Gawler, S., Josse, C., Kittel, G., Menard, S., Pyne, M., Reid, M., & Schulz, K. (2003). *Ecological systems of the United States: A working classification of US terrestrial systems* (International Terrestrial Ecological Systems Classification). NatureServe.

- Converse, S. J., Block, W. M., & White, G. C. (2006). Small mammal population and habitat responses to forest thinning and prescribed fire. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 228(1–3), 263–273. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2006.03.006
- Converse, S. J., White, G. C., Farris, K. L., & Zack, S. (2006). Small mammals and forest fuel reduction: National-scale responses to fire and fire surrogates. *Ecological Applications*, 16(5), 1717–1729. https://doi.org/10.1890/1051-0761(2006)016[1717:SMAFFR]2.0.CO;2
- DeVries, P. G. (1973). A general theory on line-intersect sampling with application to logging residue inventory (No. 73–11; Landbouwhogeschool). Veeman. https://edepot.wur.nl/290511
- Dray, S., Legendre, P., & Peres-Neto, P. R. (2006). Spatial modelling: A comprehensive framework for principal coordinate analysis of neighbour matrices (PCNM).
 Ecological Modelling, *196*(3–4), 483–493.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2006.02.015
- Driscoll, D. A., Lindenmayer, D. B., Bennett, A. F., Bode, M., Bradstock, R. A., Cary, G. J., Clarke, M. F., Dexter, N., Fensham, R., Friend, G., Gill, M., James, S., Kay, G., Keith, D. A., MacGregor, C., Russell-Smith, J., Salt, D., Watson, J. E. M., Williams, R. J., & York, A. (2010). Fire management for biodiversity conservation: Key research questions and our capacity to answer them. *Biological Conservation*, *143*(9), 1928–1939. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2010.05.026
- Ecke, F., Nematollahi Mahani, S. A., Evander, M., Hörnfeldt, B., & Khalil, H. (2019). Wildfire-induced short-term changes in a small mammal community increase

prevalence of a zoonotic pathogen? *Ecology and Evolution*, *9*(22), 12459–12470. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.5688

- Eidenshink, J., Schwind, B., Brewer, K., Zhu, Z.-L., Quayle, B., & Howard, S. (2007). A project for monitoring trends in burn severity. *Fire Ecology*, 3(1), 3–21. https://doi.org/10.4996/fireecology.0301003
- Fauteux, D., Imbeau, L., Drapeau, P., & Mazerolle, M. J. (2012). Small mammal responses to coarse woody debris distribution at different spatial scales in managed and unmanaged boreal forests. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 266, 194–205. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2011.11.020
- Fire and Resource Assessment Program. (2020). *Fire perimeters*. CAL FIRE. https://frap.fire.ca.gov/frap-projects/fire-perimeters/
- Fisher, J. T., & Wilkinson, L. (2005). The response of mammals to forest fire and timber harvest in the North American boreal forest. *Mammal Review*, 35(1), 51–81. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2907.2005.00053.x
- Fitzsimmons, J. M. (2013). How consistent are trait data between sources? A quantitative assessment. *Oikos*, *122*(9), 1350–1356. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0706.2013.00207.x
- Flynn, D. F. B., Gogol-Prokurat, M., Nogeire, T., Molinari, N., Richers, B. T., Lin, B. B., Simpson, N., Mayfield, M. M., & DeClerck, F. (2009). Loss of functional diversity under land use intensification across multiple taxa. *Ecology Letters*, *12*(1), 22–33. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2008.01255.x

- Fontaine, J. B., & Kennedy, P. L. (2012). Meta-analysis of avian and small-mammal response to fire severity and fire surrogate treatments in U.S. fire-prone forests. *Ecological Applications*, 22(5), 1547–1561.
- Freeman, J., Kobziar, L., Rose, E. W., & Cropper, W. (2017). A critique of the historicalfire-regime concept in conservation: Historical fire regimes. *Conservation Biology*, 31(5), 976–985. https://doi.org/10.1111/cobi.12942
- Greenberg, C. H., Miller, S., & Waldrop, T. A. (2007). Short-term response of shrews to prescribed fire and mechanical fuel reduction in a Southern Appalachian upland hardwood forest. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 243(2–3), 231–236. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2007.03.003
- Griffiths, A. D., & Brook, B. W. (2014). Effect of fire on small mammals: A systematic review. *International Journal of Wildland Fire*, 23(7), 1034–1043. https://doi.org/10.1071/WF14026
- Horncastle, V. J., Chambers, C. L., & Dickson, B. G. (2019). Grazing and wildfire effects on small mammals inhabiting montane meadows. *The Journal of Wildlife Management*, 83(3), 534–543. https://doi.org/10.1002/jwmg.21635
- Hutchings, J. A., Myers, R. A., García, V. B., Lucifora, L. O., & Kuparinen, A. (2012). Lifehistory correlates of extinction risk and recovery potential. *Ecological Applications*, 22(4), 1061–1067. https://doi.org/10.1890/11-1313.1
- Innes, R. J., Vuren, D. H. V., Kelt, D. A., Johnson, M. L., Wilson, J. A., & Stine, P. A. (2007). Habitat associations of dusky-footed woodrats (Neotoma fuscipes) in mixedconifer forest of the northern Sierra Nevada. *Journal of Mammalogy*, 88(6), 1523– 1531. https://doi.org/10.1644/07-MAMM-A-002R.1

- Jia-bing, W., De-xin, G., Shi-jie, H., Mi, Z., & Chang-jie, J. (2005). Ecological functions of coarse woody debris in forest ecosystem. *Journal of Forestry Research*, 16(3), 247– 252. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02856826
- Jones, G. M., Gutiérrez, R., Tempel, D. J., Whitmore, S. A., Berigan, W. J., & Peery, M. Z. (2016). Megafires: An emerging threat to old-forest species. *Frontiers in Ecology* and the Environment, 14(6), 300–306. https://doi.org/10.1002/fee.1298
- Jones, K. E., Bielby, J., Cardillo, M., Fritz, S. A., O'Dell, J., Orme, C. D. L., Safi, K.,
 Sechrest, W., Boakes, E. H., Carbone, C., Connolly, C., Cutts, M. J., Foster, J. K.,
 Grenyer, R., Habib, M., Plaster, C. A., Price, S. A., Rigby, E. A., Rist, J., ... Purvis,
 A. (2009). PanTHERIA: A species-level database of life history, ecology, and
 geography of extant and recently extinct mammals. *Ecology*, 90(9), 2648–2648.
 https://doi.org/10.1890/08-1494.1
- Kalies, E. L., Chambers, C. L., & Covington, W. W. (2010). Wildlife responses to thinning and burning treatments in southwestern conifer forests: A meta-analysis. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 259(3), 333–342.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2009.10.024

- Keeley, J. E. (2009). Fire intensity, fire severity and burn severity: A brief review and suggested usage. *International Journal of Wildland Fire*, 18(1), 116. https://doi.org/10.1071/WF07049
- Kelly, L. T., Nimmo, D. G., Spence-Bailey, L. M., Clarke, M. F., & Bennett, A. F. (2010). The short-term responses of small mammals to wildfire in semiarid mallee shrubland, Australia. *Wildlife Research*, *37*(4), 293. https://doi.org/10.1071/WR10016

Kirkland, G. L. (1976). Small mammals of a mine waste situation in the central Adirondacks, New York: A case of opportunism by Peromyscus maniculatus. *American Midland Naturalist*, 95(1), 103. https://doi.org/10.2307/2424237

- Kirkman, L. K., Barnett, A., Williams, B. W., Hiers, J. K., Pokswinski, S. M., & Mitchell,
 R. J. (2013). A dynamic reference model: A framework for assessing biodiversity restoration goals in a fire-dependent ecosystem. *Ecological Applications*, 23(7), 1574–1587. https://doi.org/10.1890/13-0021.1
- Knapp, E. E., Keeley, J. E., Ballenger, E. A., & Brennan, T. J. (2005). Fuel reduction and coarse woody debris dynamics with early season and late season prescribed fire in a Sierra Nevada mixed conifer forest. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 208(1–3), 383–397. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2005.01.016
- Krefting, L. W., & Ahlgren, C. E. (1974). Small mammals and vegetation changes after fire in a mixed conifer-hardwood forest. *Ecology*, 55(6), 1391–1398. https://doi.org/10.2307/1935467
- Kyle, S. C., & Block, W. M. (2000). Effects of wildfire severity on small mammals in northern Arizona ponderosa pine forests. *Fire and Forest Ecology: Innovative Silviculture and Vegetation Management*, 21, 163–168.
- Law, B., Doty, A., Chidel, M., & Brassil, T. (2018). Bat activity before and after a severe wildfire in Pilliga forests: Resilience influenced by fire extent and landscape mobility? *Austral Ecology*, 43(6), 706–718. https://doi.org/10.1111/aec.12617
- Legendre, P., & Gallagher, E. D. (2001). Ecologically meaningful transformations for ordination of species data. *Oecologia*, 129(2), 271–280. https://doi.org/10.1007/s004420100716

- Lobo, N. (2014). Conifer seed predation by terrestrial small mammals: A review of the patterns, implications, and limitations of top-down and bottom-up interactions. *Forest Ecology and Management*, *328*, 45–54.
- MacCracken, J. G., Uresk, D. W., & Hansen, R. M. (1985). Habitat used by shrews in southeastern Montana. *Northwest Science*, 59(1), 24–27.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2014.05.019

- Martinze Arbizu, P. (2020). *pairwiseAdonis: Pairwise multilevel comparison using Adonis* (R package version 0.4) [Computer software].
- Maser, C., Anderson, R. G., Cromack Jr, K., Williams, J. T., & Martin, R. E. (1979). Dead and down woody material. Wildlife Habitats in Managed Forests: The Blue Mountains of Oregon and Washington, 553, 78.
- Mayer, K. E., & Laudenslayer, W. F. (1988). *A guide to wildlife habitats of California*. Department of Fish and Game.
- McComb, W., C. (2003). Ecology of coarse woody debris and its role as habitat for mammals. In *Mammal community dynamics: Management and conservation in the coniferous forests of western North America* (p. 374). Cambridge University Press.
- McGill, B., Enquist, B., Weiher, E., & Westoby, M. (2006). Rebuilding community ecology from functional traits. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 21(4), 178–185. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2006.02.002
- Miklós, P., & Îiak, D. (2002). Microhabitat selection by three small mammal species in oakelm forest. *Folia Zoologica*, *15*(4), 275–288.

- Morrison, M. L., Marcot, B., & Mannan, W. (2012). Concepts of wildlife-habitat relationships: The habitat, niche, and population perspectives. In *Wildlife-habitat relationships: Concepts and applications* (pp. 43–128). Island Press.
- Oksanen, J., Blanchet, F. G., Friendly, M., Kindt, R., Legendre, P., McGlinn, D., Minchin,
 P. R., O'Hara, R. B., Simpson, G. L., Solymos, P., Stevens, M. H. H., Szoecs, E., &
 Wagner, H. (2018). *vegan: Community ecology package* (R package version 2.5-2)
 [Computer software]. https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=vegan
- Ostfeld, R. S., Levi, T., Keesing, F., Oggenfuss, K., & Canham, C. D. (2018). Tick-borne disease risk in a forest food web. *Ecology*, 99(7), 1562–1573. https://doi.org/10.1002/ecy.2386
- Pastro, L. A., Dickman, C. R., & Letnic, M. (2014). Fire type and hemisphere determine the effects of fire on the alpha and beta diversity of vertebrates: A global meta-analysis. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, 23(10), 1146–1156. https://doi.org/10.1111/geb.12195
- Pielou, E. C. (1966). The measurement of diversity in different types of biological collections. *Journal of Theoretical Biology*, 13, 131–144.
- Plavsic, M. J. (2014). Proximate and ultimate drivers of small-mammal recolonization after fire: Microhabitat conditions, rainfall and species traits. *Animal Conservation*, *17*(6), 573–582. https://doi.org/10.1111/acv.12124
- Powell, F., & Banks, P. B. (2004). Do house mice modify their foraging behaviour in response to predator odours and habitat? *Animal Behaviour*, 67(4), 753–759. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2003.08.016

- Pyare, S., & Longland, W. S. (2001). Patterns of ectomycorrhizal-fungi consumption by small mammals in remnant old-growth forests of the Sierra Nevada. *Journal of Mammalogy*, 82(3), 9.
- QGIS Development Team. (2018). *QGIS Geographic Information System*. Open Source Geospatial Foundation Project. http://qgis.org
- R Core Team. (2018). *R: A language and environment for statistical computing*. R Foundation for Statistical Computing. http://www.r-project.org/
- Reid, F. (2006). *Peterson field guide to mammals of North America* (4th ed.). Houghton Mifflin Harcourt.
- Roberts, S. L., Kelt, D. A., van Wagtendonk, J. W., Miles, A. K., & Meyer, M. D. (2015).
 Effects of fire on small mammal communities in frequent-fire forests in California.
 Journal of Mammalogy, 96(1), 107–119. https://doi.org/10.1093/jmammal/gyu011
- Roberts, S. L., van Wagtendonk, J. W., Miles, A. K., Kelt, D. A., & Lutz, J. A. (2008).
 Modeling the effects of fire severity and spatial complexity on small mammals in Yosemite National Park, California. *Fire Ecology*, 4(2), 83–104.
 https://doi.org/10.4996/fireecology.0402083
- Rollins, M. G., & Frame, C. K. (2006). *The LANDFIRE prototype project: Nationally consistent and locally relevant geospatial data for wildland fire management* (RMRS-GTR-175; p. RMRS-GTR-175). U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Rocky Mountain Research Station. https://doi.org/10.2737/RMRS-GTR-175
- Schmid-Holmes, S., & Drickamer, L. C. (2001). Impact of forest patch characteristics on small mammal communities: A multivariate approach. *Biological Conservation*, 99(3), 293–305. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-3207(00)00195-6

- Schnurr, J. L., Canham, C. D., Ostfeld, R. S., & Inouye, R. S. (2004). Neighborhood analyses of small-mammal dynamics: Impacts on seed predation and seedling establishment. *Ecology*, 85(3), 741–755. https://doi.org/10.1890/02-0644
- Schoennagel, T., Balch, J. K., Brenkert-Smith, H., Dennison, P. E., Harvey, B. J.,
 Krawchuk, M. A., Mietkiewicz, N., Morgan, P., Moritz, M. A., Rasker, R., Turner,
 M. G., & Whitlock, C. (2017). Adapt to more wildfire in western North American
 forests as climate changes. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *114*(18), 4582–4590. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1617464114
- Smith, W. P. (2007). Ecology of Glaucomys sabrinus: Habitat, demography, and community relations. *Journal of Mammalogy*, 88(4), 862–881. https://doi.org/10.1644/06-MAMM-S-371R1.1
- Sollmann, R., White, A. M., Tarbill, G. L., Manley, P. N., & Knapp, E. E. (2016).
 Landscape heterogeneity compensates for fuel reduction treatment effects on northern flying squirrel populations. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 373, 100– 107.
- Steel, Z. L., Campos, B., Frick, W. F., Burnett, R., & Safford, H. D. (2019). The effects of wildfire severity and pyrodiversity on bat occupancy and diversity in fire-suppressed forests. *Scientific Reports*, 9(1), 16300. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-52875-2

Stephens, P. R., Altizer, S., Smith, K. F., Alonso Aguirre, A., Brown, J. H., Budischak, S. A., Byers, J. E., Dallas, T. A., Jonathan Davies, T., Drake, J. M., Ezenwa, V. O., Farrell, M. J., Gittleman, J. L., Han, B. A., Huang, S., Hutchinson, R. A., Johnson, P., Nunn, C. L., Onstad, D., ... Poulin, R. (2016). The macroecology of infectious

diseases: A new perspective on global-scale drivers of pathogen distributions and impacts. *Ecology Letters*, *19*(9), 1159–1171. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.12644

- Stephens, S. L., Burrows, N., Buyantuyev, A., Gray, R. W., Keane, R. E., Kubian, R., Liu, S., Seijo, F., Shu, L., Tolhurst, K. G., & Van Wagtendonk, J. W. (2014). Temperate and boreal forest mega-fires: Characteristics and challenges. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, 12(2), 115–122. https://doi.org/10.1890/120332
- Sullivan, T. P., & Krebs, C. J. (1981). An irruption of deer mice after logging of coastal coniferous forest. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, 11(3), 586–592.
- Thompson, G. G., Thompson, S. A., Withers, P. C., & Fraser, J. (2007). Determining adequate trapping effort and species richness using species accumulation curves for environmental impact assessments. *Austral Ecology*, *32*(5), 570–580. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1442-9993.2007.01729.x
- Torre, I., & Díaz, M. (2004). Small mammal abundance in Mediterranean post-fire habitats: A role for predators? *Acta Oecologica*, 25(3), 137–142. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actao.2003.10.007
- Vander Wall, S. B. (2008). On the relative contributions of wind vs. Animals to seed dispersal of four Sierra Nevada pines. *Ecology*, 89(7), 1837–1849. https://doi.org/10.1890/07-0409.1
- Waddell, K. L. (2002). Sampling coarse woody debris for multiple attributes in extensive resource inventories. *Ecological Indicators*, 1(3), 139–153. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1470-160X(01)00012-7

- Wang, Y., Naumann, U., Eddelbuettel, D., Wilshire, J., & Warton, D. (2019). *mvabund: Statistical methods for analysing multivariate abundance data* (R package version 4.0.1) [Computer software].
- Wang, Y., Naumann, U., Wright, S. T., & Warton, D. I. (2012). mvabund: An R package for model-based analysis of multivariate abundance data. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 3(3), 471–474. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2041-210X.2012.00190.x
- Warton, D. I. (2011). Regularized sandwich estimators for analysis of high-dimensional data using generalized estimating equations. *Biometrics*, 67(1), 116–123. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1541-0420.2010.01438.x
- Warton, D. I., Foster, S. D., De'ath, G., Stoklosa, J., & Dunstan, P. K. (2015). Model-based thinking for community ecology. *Plant Ecology*, 216(5), 669–682. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11258-014-0366-3
- Warton, D. I., Shipley, B., & Hastie, T. (2015). CATS regression: A model-based approach to studying trait-based community assembly. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 6(4), 389–398. https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.12280
- Warton, D. I., Thibaut, L., & Wang, Y. A. (2017). The PIT-trap: A "model-free" bootstrap procedure for inference about regression models with discrete, multivariate responses. *PLOS ONE*, *12*(7), e0181790.
 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0181790
- Webster, K. M., & Halpern, C. B. (2010). Long-term vegetation responses to reintroduction and repeated use of fire in mixed-conifer forests of the Sierra Nevada. *Ecosphere*, *1*(5), 1–29. https://doi.org/10.1890/ES10-00018.1

- Whelan, R. J., Rodgerson, L., Dickman, C. R., & Sutherland, E. F. (2002). Critical life cycles of plants and animals: Developing a process-based understanding of population changes in fire-prone landscapes. *Flammable Australia: The Fire Regimes and Biodiversity of a Continent*, 94–124.
- Whitaker, J. O. (1996). National Audubon Society field guide to North American mammals (2nd ed.). Alfred A. Knopf Inc.
- Willott, S. J. (2001). Species accumulation curves and the measure of sampling effort. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 38(2), 484–486. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2664.2001.00589.x
- Yue, X., Mickley, L. J., Logan, J. A., & Kaplan, J. O. (2013). Ensemble projections of wildfire activity and carbonaceous aerosol concentrations over the western United States in the mid-21st century. *Atmospheric Environment*, 77, 767–780. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2013.06.003
- Zielinski, W. J., & Duncan, N. P. (2004). Diets of sympatric populations of American martens (Martes americana) and fishers (Martes pennanti) in California. *Journal of Mammalogy*, 85(3), 470–477.
- Zwolak, R. (2009). A meta-analysis of the effects of wildfire, clearcutting, and partial harvest on the abundance of North American small mammals. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 258(5), 539–545. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2009.05.033
- Zwolak, R., & Foresman, K. R. (2007). Effects of a stand-replacing fire on small-mammal communities in montane forest. *Canadian Journal of Zoology*, 85(7), 815–822. https://doi.org/10.1139/Z07-065

Appendix S1





Table S1. Trait designations and corresponding literature references for three small mammal functional traits. For each of the 11 captured small mammal species, we used

species accounts to determine designations for three functional traits associated with resource use: feeding guild, primary foraging mode, and primary nesting habit (criteria for trait designations defined in **Table S2**). These traits were hypothesized to correlate with fire-related vegetation changes and thereby predict small mammal community response to fire severity. Small mammal trait designations along with site vegetation characteristics were used as predictor variables in a fourth-corner model (GLM_{trait}) to predict small mammal species abundances using environment by trait relationships.

Species	Trait	Designation	Reference(s)
Glaucomys sabrinus	Feeding guild	Omnivore	(Wells-Gosling and
(northern flying squirrel)	Foraging mode	Arboreal	Heaney 1984,
	Nesting habit	Tree	_

			Whitaker 1996,
17			Keid 2006)
Neotamias amoenus	Feeding guild	Omnivore	- (Sutton 1992, 1006)
(yellow-pine chipmunk)	Foraging mode	Scansorial	- Whitaker 1996,
	Nesting habit	Burrow	Reid 2006)
Neotamias quadrimaculatus	Feeding guild	Omnivore	(Clawson et al.
(long-eared chipmunk)	Foraging mode	Scansorial	1994, Whitaker
	Nesting habit	Tree	1996, Reid 2006)
Neotamias senex	Feeding guild	Omnivore	(Gannon and
(shadow chipmunk)	Foraging mode	Ground	Forbes 1995,
	Nesting habit	Tree	Whitaker 1996,
	_		Reid 2006)
Neotoma fuscipes	Feeding guild	Herbivore	(Carraway and
(dusky-footed woodrat)	Foraging mode	Arboreal	Verts 1991,
	Nesting habit	Tree	Whitaker 1996,
			Reid 2006)
Otospermophilus beecheyi	Feeding guild	Omnivore	(Whitaker 1996,
(California ground squirrel)	Foraging mode	Ground	Reid 2006, Smith
	Nesting habit	Burrow	et al. 2016)
Peromyscus boylii	Feeding guild	Omnivore	(Whitaker 1996,
(brush mouse)	Foraging mode	Scansorial	Reid 2006,
	Nesting habit	Hollow	Kalcounis-
	-		Rueppell and
			Spoon 2009)
Peromyscus maniculatus	Feeding guild	Omnivore	(Whitaker 1996,
(deer mouse)	Foraging mode	Scansorial	Reid 2006)
	Nesting habit	Hollow	
Peromyscus truei	Feeding guild	Herbivore	(Hoffmeister 1981,
(pinyon mouse)	Foraging mode	Scansorial	Whitaker 1996,
	Nesting habit	Hollow	Reid 2006)
Reithrodontomys megalotis	Feeding guild	Herbivore	(Webster and Jones
(western harvest mouse)	Foraging mode	Scansorial	1982, Whitaker
	Nesting habit	Hollow	1996, Reid 2006)
Sorex trowbridgii	Feeding guild	Insectivore	(George 1989.
(Trowbridge's shrew)	Foraging mode	Ground	Whitaker 1996.
	Nesting habit	Burrow	— Reid 2006)
			'

Table S2. Criteria for small mammal functional trait designations. We defined three levels for each of three functional trait variables associated with resource use: feeding guild, primary foraging mode, and primary nesting habit. These criteria were used to determine

trait designations for each of 11 captured small mammal species according to published species accounts (**Table S1**).

Trait	Designation	Criteria and examples
Feeding guild	Herbivore	Diet consists of >80% vegetation (foliage, seedlings, stems, twigs, bark, roots, tubers, buds, flowers), seeds (nuts, grains, conifer seeds, acorns, grass seeds), and fruits (fleshy fruits, drupes)
	Omnivore	Diet split between vegetation, invertebrates, vertebrates (bird eggs, fledglings, or adults, mammals, reptiles, amphibians), and fungi (subterranean fungi, fruiting bodies, lichens)
	Insectivore	Diet consists of >80% invertebrates (ground insects, insect larvae, worms, orthopterans, flying insects, centipedes, spiders)
Foraging	Arboreal	Primarily forages in trees
mode	Scansorial	Forages on the ground and by climbing in shrubs or trees
	Ground	Primarily forages on the ground
Nesting habit	Tree	Tree branches, tree cavities, hollow trees or snags
	Hollow	Rock crevices, under fallen trees or vegetation, brush piles, hollow stumps
	Burrow	Underground burrows or tunnels, burrows in leaf mould

References (Appendix)

Carraway, L. N., and B. J. Verts. 1991. Neotoma fuscipes. Mammalian Species: 1-10.

- Clawson, R. G., J. A. Clawson, and T. L. Best. 1994. *Tamias quadrimaculatus*. Mammalian Species:1–6.
- Gannon, W. L., and R. B. Forbes. 1995. Tamias senex. Mammalian Species: 1-6.
- George, S. B. 1989. Sorex trowbridgii. Mammalian Species: 1-5.
- Hoffmeister, D. F. 1981. Peromyscus truei. Mammalian Species: 1-5.
- Hseih, T. C., K. H. Ma, and A. Chao. 2020. iNEXT: iNterpolation and EXTrapolation for species diversity. R package version 2.0.20.
- Kalcounis-Rueppell, M. C., and T. R. Spoon. 2009. *Peromyscus boylii* (Rodentia: Cricetidae). Mammalian Species:1–14.
- Reid, F. 2006. Peterson field guide to mammals of North America. Fourth edition. Houghton Mifflin Harcourt, New York, NY.
- Smith, J. E., D. J. Long, I. D. Russell, K. L. Newcomb, and V. D. Muñoz. 2016. Otospermophilus beecheyi. Mammalian Species 48:91–108.
- Sutton, D. A. 1992. Tamias amoenus. Mammalian Species:1-8.
- Webster, Wm. D., and J. K. Jones. 1982. *Reithrodontomys megalotis*. Mammalian Species:1–5.
- Wells-Gosling, N., and L. R. Heaney. 1984. Glaucomys sabrinus. Mammalian Species: 1-8.
- Whitaker, J. O. 1996. National Audubon Society field guide to North American mammals. Second edition. Alfred A. Knopf Inc., New York, NY.